STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Charleston County
R. Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

WILLIAM HOLMES,

PETITIONER.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-001018

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Jason T. Yonge (SC Bar No. 102869)
Williams, Stitely & Brink, PC
200 E. Main St.
Lexington, SC 29072
(803) 359-9000
jyonge@wsblegal.com

Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender
SCCID, Appellate Division
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 734-1330
rdudek@sccid.sc.gov

Attorneys for Petitioner

RECEIVED

May 06 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON CERTIORARI

Did the Court of Appeals err by affirming the trial court's decision to deny petitioner's motion to suppress evidence where law enforcement conducted a knock-and-talk without reasonable suspicion of criminal activity at the targeted home in violation of Petitioner's state constitutional right to be free from unreasonable invasions of privacy?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner William Holmes was arrested by officers from the North Charleston Police Department on March 6, 2015. The Charleston County Grand jury indicted Holmes for one count of manufacturing crack cocaine and one count of possession of cocaine. (R. pp. 567-570).

Prior to trial, Holmes and his co-defendant, Darell Boston, each filed motions to suppress evidence. (R. p. 573). Following a pretrial suppression hearing, the trial court issued a written order denying the suppression motions. (R. p. 1-3).

After a three-day trial, the jury convicted Holmes of manufacturing crack cocaine and possession of cocaine. The trial court sentenced Holmes to twenty years of imprisonment.¹ (R. p. 571-572).

On June 30, 2021, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Holmes' convictions in an unpublished opinion. State v. Holmes, Op. No. 2021-UP-249 (S.C. Ct. App. 2021 filed June 30, 2021). Holmes filed a petition for rehearing on July 13, 2021. The Court of Appeals issued an Order denying the petition for rehearing on August 19, 2021. Thereafter, Holmes filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals, which was granted by the Supreme Court on April 6, 2022.

¹ Petitioner was sentenced to eight years for possession of cocaine, third offense, and twenty years for manufacturing crack cocaine, to be served concurrently.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Incident

On March 6, 2015, at approximately 5:25 p.m., Officer Joseph Sherwood and two other law enforcement officers with the North Charleston Police Department were standing together in an apartment complex parking lot following an unrelated traffic stop when a taxi pulled into the parking lot. (R. p. 18, lines 14–p. 19, line 6; R. p. 55, line 25–p.56, line 3). Officer Sherwood and a superior officer watched as Petitioner William Holmes and Darell Boston exited the taxi, walked to Denise Holman’s apartment, and were invited inside. (R. p. 210, lines 22-24; R. p. 362, line 24–p. 363, line 1). Neither officer saw the men carrying any weapons or contraband, and Officer Sherwood’s superior officer later testified that there was nothing suspicious about how the two men got out of the cab and went into the apartment. (R. p. 252, lines 20-23; R. p. 362, line 24–p. 363, line 21; R. p. 375, lines 4-9). The officers watched the men enter the apartment and then resumed their conversation. (R. p. 19, lines 18-24).

The officers continued to talk for about fifteen minutes. (R. p. 73, lines 2-5). During that time, Officer Sherwood did not see or hear anything from the apartment that suggested someone was committing a crime. (R. p. 55, lines 15-19; R. p. 73, lines 2-14). Nonetheless, the officers decided to perform a knock-and-talk at the apartment after Officer Sherwood told his superior officer that he recognized Holmes and Boston from prior run-ins at another house known for drug activity. (R. p. 253, lines 2-13).

After Officer Sherwood knocked, the sole resident of the apartment—Denise Holman—opened the front door. (R. p. 20, lines 17-18). Officer Sherwood identified himself as a law enforcement officer and asked to enter the apartment to talk to her. (R. p. 20, lines 17-20; R. p. 22, lines 5-7). Holman then stepped back, and Officer Sherwood walked into the apartment. (R.

p. 20, lines 17-22). Officer Sherwood never told Holman that that she could refuse to let him enter her apartment. (R. p. 56, line 20–p. 57, line 1).

Upon entering the 400-square-foot, three-room apartment, Officer Sherwood observed Holmes and Boston standing in the kitchen near a running microwave and two plastic baggies containing white residue on the kitchen counter. (R. p. 27, lines 4-25). After Officer Sherwood stepped inside, Holmes and Boston opened the microwave and ran to the bathroom. (R. p. 29, line 23 –p. 30, line 5). Assuming the men were armed, Officer Sherwood approached the bathroom and demanded that they come out. (R. p. 30, lines 12-19; R. p. 32, lines 21-24). Both men immediately complied by walking into the main living room. (R. p. 32, lines 21-24). The officers sat the men down on the couch and searched them. (R. p. 33, lines 1-4). While searching Holmes, Officer Sherwood’s superior officer found cocaine and a scale on his person. (R. p. 33, lines 1-4). While performing a protective sweep, Officer Sherwood discovered a Pyrex cup containing crack cocaine in the bathroom. (R. p. 33, lines 5-12).

After searching the apartment and both men, the officers placed Holmes and Boston in handcuffs, and Officer Sherwood left to get a search warrant. (R. p. 35, lines 11-15). Officer Sherwood returned with a signed search warrant approximately an hour and a half later. (R. p. 51, line 15–p. 52, line 10). He then executed the search warrant and re-discovered the Pyrex cup in the bathroom. (R. p. 52, lines 11-13). Holmes and Boston were subsequently arrested. However, the officers did not arrest Holman. (R. p. 52, lines 21-24).

Motion to Suppress

Both Holmes and Boston made pretrial motions to suppress any evidence stemming from this knock-and-talk. In his memorandum in support of his motion to suppress evidence, Holmes argued that Officer Sherwood’s use of the knock-and-talk technique violated his state and federal

constitutional rights because “the officers involved lacked reasonable suspicion to approach the residence and lacked probable cause to search the residence and seize any items” (R. p. 574).

Suppression Hearing

Officer Sherwood, Denise Holman, William Holmes, and Darell Boston testified at the pre-trial suppression hearing. (R. p. 7).

Officer Sherwood Testimony

During the pre-trial suppression hearing, Officer Sherwood testified that, before he performed this knock-and-talk, there were no prior complaints regarding drugs, weapons, wanted persons, or armed and dangerous persons at Holman’s apartment. (R. p. 55, lines 2-14). In fact, he was not aware of any complaints involving the apartment. (R. p. 54, line 24–p. 55, line 1). Furthermore, when asked whether he had any information that Holmes or Boston were committing a burglary or armed robbery, Officer Sherwood said “not at all.” (R. p. 55, lines 17-19).

Although Officer Sherwood was not aware of any complaints concerning the apartment, he testified that the area where the apartment was located has “always been a hot spot for narcotics activity” and the Police Department had several complaints about drug activity in the area. (R. p. 17, lines 5-9). He made similar contentions in his search warrant affidavit and incident report in this case. In his search warrant affidavit, he stated that he “went to [Holman’s apartment] in reference to a complaint about drug deals using the apartments for drug sales.” (R. p. 618). In his incident report for this case, he stated that he went to the apartment “in reference to drug complaints under case number 2015008889.” (R. pp. 602-603). However, Officer Sherwood later admitted that case number 2015008889 actually involved a trespassing complaint

near another apartment, not a drug complaint.² He did not cite any other case numbers in his incident report to support his statement that he approached the apartment because of drug complaints. (R. p. 63, lines 20-22). Moreover, at the suppression hearing, he testified that he was in the area for a “completely unrelated” traffic stop or call for service, and he decided to perform a knock-and-talk only after he remembered who Holmes and Boston were. (R. p. 56, lines 5-15).

Denise Holman Testimony

Denise Holman, the sole resident of Apartment 2, testified that she suffered a brain aneurysm and stroke between the incident and her suppression hearing testimony, which resulted in slight memory issues. (R. p. 100, lines 5-22). Despite her memory issues, she was able to testify to the following: (1) she knew Holmes and Boston (R. p. 100, line 23–p. 101, line 19); (2) Holmes and Boston visited her apartment with her permission (R. p. 101, line 21–p. 102, line 6); and (3) She let the officers in after they knocked on her apartment door, but they did not tell her that she could say no (R. 102, lines 7-20).

William Holmes Testimony

Appellant William Holmes testified that he (1) had known Holman since he was a little boy (R. p. 121, line 24–p. 122, line 1); (2) considered her his friend (R. p. 122, lines 2-4); (3) went to her apartment on the day of the incident to get high and get some music with Boston (R. p. 122, lines 12-14); and (4) felt safe and comfortable in Ms. Holman’s apartment (R. p. 123, line 13–p. 120, line 4).

² During trial, when he was questioned about why he would say a trespassing case was about drugs, Officer Sherwood stated that “trespassing and drugs, we always look at go hand in hand,” because “drug dealers usually trespass.” (R. p. 142, line 11–p. 143, line 6).

Darell Boston Testimony

Darell Boston testified that he (1) had known Holman for about fifteen years (R. p. 108, lines 14-15); (2) had been to her home about ten times (R. p. 109, lines 3-5); (3) typically visited Holman to use her electronics and smoke weed in peace (R. p. 109, lines 6-22); (4) had sold Holman crack in the past (R. p. 113, line 22–p. 114, line 3); (5) called Holman and told her he was coming over on the day of the incident (R. p. 109, lines 23-25); and (6) visited the apartment that day to smoke a blunt and upload music (R. p. 110, lines 3-7; R. p. 116, lines 6-8).

Suppression Argument

At the conclusion of the suppression hearing testimony, the Trial Court heard arguments from the State and defense counsel. Holmes’s counsel cited State v. Counts, 776 S.E.2d 59, 776 S.C. 153 (2015), and argued that Officer Sherwood did not have the reasonable suspicion necessary to perform a knock-and-talk when he decided to approach Holman’s apartment after fifteen minutes without hearing or seeing anything that would lead him to believe a crime was being committed. (R. pp. 143-144). The State argued that Holmes and Boston did not have standing. The State also argued that Officer Sherwood had reasonable suspicion because of his experience as a law enforcement officer, knowledge of Holmes and Boston’s prior offenses, and knowledge of drug complaints in the general area. (R. pp. 150-152). However, the State conceded that a police officer’s knowledge of a person’s criminal history does not give that officer carte blanche to approach that person’s door every time the officer sees the person. (R. p. 150, lines 12-18).

Suppression Ruling

After taking the matter under advisement, the Trial Court made the following findings in a written Suppression Hearing Order: (1) “Pursuant to the S.C. Constitution, Defendants do have

standing to contest the admissibility of any evidence collected by Sergeant Sherwood and the North Charleston Police Department;” and (2) “Taking into consideration the totality of the circumstances, Sergeant Sherwood . . . had reasonable suspicion to conduct a knock and talk at the home of Denise Holman. Furthermore, Denise Holman, freely and voluntarily gave officers consent to enter her apartment and the officers’ actions inside the apartment were lawful and not violative of the Defendants’ rights.” Based on these findings, the Trial Court denied the motions to suppress evidence. (R. pp. 1-3).

The case subsequently proceeded to trial, where Holmes was convicted of manufacturing crack cocaine and possession of cocaine, third offense. (R. p. 520, line 19–p. 521, line 13).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 49, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). “The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 529 S.E.2d 528 (2000). In search and seizure cases, an appellate court may conduct its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge’s ruling is supported by the evidence. State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 70, 572 S.E.2d 456, 460 (2002). Although the appellate court may not reverse merely because it would have reached a different conclusion, it should reverse when the trial court has committed clear error. See State v. Rivera, 384 S.C. 356, 361, 682 S.E.2d 307, 310 (Ct. App. 2009); State v. Flowers, 360 S.C. 1, 5, 598 S.E.2d 725, 727 (Ct. App. 2004).

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court’s decision to deny Petitioner’s motion to suppress evidence where law enforcement conducted a knock-and-talk without reasonable suspicion of criminal activity at the targeted home in violation of Petitioner’s state constitutional right to be free from unreasonable invasions of privacy.

The primary issue involved in this case concerns whether Officer Sherwood had reasonable suspicion that criminal activity was occurring at Denise Holman’s apartment before he approached it to perform a knock-and-talk. Because the Court of Appeals based its decision in this case on its opinion in State v. Boston, 433 S.C. 177, 857 S.E.2d 27 (Ct. App. 2021), the argument in this Brief will address the points raised by the Court of Appeals in Boston.

In Boston, the Court of Appeals properly relied on this Court’s decision in State v. Counts for the proposition that “law enforcement must have a reasonable suspicion of illegal activity to perform a knock and talk.” Boston, 433 S.C. at 183, 857 S.E.2d at 30 (citing Counts, 413 S.C. 153, 174, 776 S.E.2d 59, 71 (2015)). However, the Court of Appeals improperly relied on Counts and State v. Kotowski to support its holding that Officer Sherwood had reasonable suspicion in this case. Boston, 433 S.C. at 183-85, 857 S.E.2d at 30-31. The “specific evidence” the Court of Appeals cited to support its holding differs significantly from the evidence presented in Counts and Kotowski and is insufficient on its own to establish reasonable suspicion. Thus, the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court’s finding that Officer Sherwood had reasonable suspicion.

I. The Court of Appeals improperly relied on Counts and Kotowski to support its holding that Officer Sherwood had reasonable suspicion.

Both Counts and Kotowski are factually distinct from the present case. Unlike Counts and Kotowski, which both involved extensive, time-intensive police investigations culminating in knock-and-talks, this case involves an officer's uncorroborated mental impressions formed over the course of 15 minutes. As the Court of Appeals noted in Kotowski, “[A]n officer’s impression that an individual is engaged in criminal activity, without confirmation, does not amount to reasonable suspicion.” Id., 427 S.C. 119, 128-29, 828 S.E.2d 605, 610 (Ct. App. 2019), *aff’d in part, vacated in part on other grounds*, 430 S.C. 318, 844 S.E.2d 650 (2020).

The type and amount of evidence presented in Counts and Kotowski provided a “particularized and objective basis that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity,” which is what is required to support a finding of reasonable suspicion. Kotowski, 427 S.C. at 128, 828 S.E.2d at 610 (internal quotations omitted). The evidence presented in this case does not rise to that level.

Both Counts and Kotowski involved anonymous tips, which occurred months before the knock-and-talks were performed. See Counts, 413 S.C. at 157-58, 776 S.E.2d at 61-62; Kotowski, 427 S.C. at 125-26, 828 S.E.2d at 608. There was no anonymous tip involved in this case.

The anonymous tips in Counts and Kotowski also described specific types of illegal activity taking place at specific addresses. See Counts, 413 S.C. at 157, 776 S.E.2d at 61-62 (Officers “received an anonymous tip alleging Counts was selling marijuana and crack cocaine out of his mother’s house and an apartment in Allen Benedict Court in Columbia.”); Kotowski, 427 S.C. at 125, 828 S.E.2d at 608 (Officers “received an anonymous tip about the possibility of a drug house at 111 Marsh Point Road.”). Such specificity is lacking in this case. Although

Officer Sherwood claimed to have knowledge of illegal activity at the apartment complex generally, he had no specific knowledge of illegal activity at the apartment where the knock-and-talk took place. See Boston, 433 S.C. at 179-80, 857 S.E.2d at 28. Officer Sherwood was not even certain what criminal activity he might find prior to performing the knock-and-talk. He testified that he knocked on the door to make sure that Holman was ok and to “see if there was any [possibility of] *any crime* or if she had *any information* for us.” Id., 433 S.C. at 180, 857 S.E.2d at 28-29 (emphasis added).

Furthermore, in Counts and Kotowski, officers corroborated the information in the anonymous tips through additional investigation and surveillance before performing the knock-and-talks. Counts, 413 S.C. at 158, 776 S.E.2d at 62 (Officers corroborated the information provided in the tips by reviewing the defendant’s rap sheet, confirming the defendant had two identification cards on record, and conducting surveillance of Counts’ residence.); Kotowski, 427 S.C. at 125, 828 S.E.2d at 608 (Officers corroborated the information provided in the tip by confirming several pseudoephedrine purchases were made by the homeowner and another person by conducting “spotty surveillance” of the residence that was the subject of the tip.). In this case, Officer Sherwood did not perform any additional investigation to corroborate his information before performing the knock-and-talk.

II. The “specific evidence” cited by the Court of Appeals does not support a finding of reasonable suspicion.

In Boston, the Court of Appeals stated that the trial court “relied on specific evidence to find the knock and talk was based on reasonable suspicion of illegal activity.” See Boston, 433 S.C. at 185, 857 S.E.2d at 31. However, none of the “specific evidence” cited by the Court of Appeals, standing alone, is sufficient to establish that Officer Sherwood had reasonable suspicion of criminal activity at Holman’s home before he initiated this knock-and-talk. Even when the specific evidence is considered together, as it must be, it gains little, if any, strength. See United States v. Sprinkle, 106 F.3d 613, 617 (4th Cir. 1997) (“[I]n the end we must evaluate the combined strength of these factors.”).

The specific evidence the Court of Appeals referenced in Boston can be organized into three categories: (a) Officer Sherwood’s knowledge of the three people inside the apartment; (b) Officer Sherwood’s knowledge of the apartment complex and surrounding community; and (c) Officer Sherwood’s training and experience.

First, the Court of Appeals discussed Officer Sherwood’s knowledge of the three people inside the apartment. Boston, 433 S.C. at 185, 857 S.E.2d at 31. Specifically, he “knew Boston and Holmes did not live [at the apartment] and recognized them from a previous incident at another location.” Id. Officer Sherwood also knew Denise Holman “lived alone, had some undefined limitations, and had used narcotics in the past.” Id. None of this information constitutes particularized and objective evidence that would reasonably lead Officer Sherwood to suspect criminal activity was occurring in the apartment. See Kotowski, 427 S.C. at 128, 828 S.E.2d at 610. Officer Sherwood did not describe any specific knowledge about Boston’s or Holmes’ criminal records. He simply testified that he recognized “them from another residence where drug activity took place,” and “had ‘several run-ins with them.’” Boston, 433 S.C. at 180,

857 S.E.2d at 28. Nonetheless, even if Officer Sherwood had knowledge of their prior criminal records, that knowledge alone would not be sufficient to create reasonable suspicion. Sprinkle, 106 F.3d at 617; see also United States v. Foster, 634 F.3d 243, 247 (4th Cir. 2011) (“[E]ven knowledge of a person’s prior criminal involvement (to say nothing of a mere arrest) is alone insufficient to give rise to the requisite reasonable suspicion.”) (quoting United States v. Sandoval, 29 F.3d 537, 542 (10th Cir. 1994)).

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