STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jun 02 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Charleston County
Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2021-001018

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

WILLIAM HOLMES,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

O.T. Wallace Building
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial judge’s ruling denying Holmes’s motion to suppress the crack cocaine and other incriminating evidence found inside someone other than Holmes’s residence because, under the totality of the circumstances, the officers who approached the residence and knocked on the door possessed reasonable suspicion of criminal activity at the time they did so. Moreover, even assuming the officers lacked reasonable suspicion of criminal activity when they approached the residence and knocked on the door, the Court of Appeals nonetheless correctly affirmed the trial judge’s decision declining to suppress any of the incriminating evidence discovered as a result of the “knock-and-talk” because the officers’ actions were fully consistent with the controlling state and federal precedent in effect at the time they approached and knocked on the residence’s door.

Holmes contends the Court of Appeals erred by affirming the trial judge’s ruling declining to suppress the evidence discovered as a result of a “knock-and-talk” conducted at the residence of someone other than himself. In support of that contention, Holmes maintains the “knock-and-talk” conducted by the officers constituted an unreasonable invasion of privacy in violation of his rights under the South Carolina Constitution because the officers allegedly lacked reasonable suspicion of criminal activity when they approached the residence and knocked on its door. To the contrary, the information known to the officers at the time they decided to approach Holman’s residence for purposes of knocking on the door satisfied the low bar of the reasonable suspicion standard and provided the minimal level of objective justification necessary for their actions to be constitutionally reasonable.¹⁴ However, even assuming for

¹⁴ Importantly, the residence where the “knock-and-talk” was performed unquestionably was *not* Holmes’s residence and, instead, was a residence he and his confederate were simply using on a brief and temporary basis to manufacture crack cocaine as part of a quid pro quo arrangement with the actual resident. (R. p. 15; pp. 30-31; p. 36; pp. 68-69; pp. 91-92; p. 135; p. 214; p. 245; pp. 279-280; p. 304; pp. 326-367; p. 333; pp. 339-340; pp. 608-610). Under those circumstances, Holmes had *no* expectation of privacy—legitimate or otherwise—in the residence and, therefore, could not possibly meet his burden of establishing he had a reasonable expectation of privacy that was unlawfully violated by the “knock-and-talk” he sought to challenge. See State v. McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 114, 352 S.E.2d 471, 473 (1987) (instructing a defendant seeking to challenge the propriety of a search or seizure must establish his own personal constitutional rights were violated by that search or seizure in order to be entitled to the

argument's sake the officers' actions somehow violated Holmes's own constitutional rights due to the absence of reasonable suspicion, application of the exclusionary rule was nonetheless not appropriate in Holmes's case because the officers fully complied with the controlling state and federal precedent in effect at the time they conducted the "knock-and-talk" at Holman's residence. Under such circumstances, suppression of the evidence would not have served the goals of the exclusionary rule in any way since the officers were simply acting in a manner that had been judicially condoned at the time of the "knock-and-talk." Accordingly, the trial judge committed no error by declining to suppress the evidence discovered as the result of the "knock-and-talk," and the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial judge's ruling on appeal. Holmes's convictions and the decision of the Court of Appeals should both be affirmed.

Much like the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution, the South Carolina Constitution provides protections to the state's citizens against unreasonable searches and seizures. State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 643, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001); see S.C. Const. art. I, § 10 ("The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against

benefits of the exclusionary rule); cf. Minnesota v. Carter, 525 U.S. 83, 91 (1998) (holding Carter and his accomplice had no expectation of privacy in another person's apartment that they were only briefly and temporarily using for the business-like purpose of packaging cocaine); State v. Robinson, 410 S.C. 519, 530, 765 S.E.2d 564, 570 (2014) ("[W]e find that [Robinson] was 'merely present with the consent of the householder,' and as such, did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy on the porch of Apartment 122." (citations omitted)). Accordingly, Holmes's lack of a reasonable expectation of privacy in Holman's residence provides an additional compelling reason for his convictions to be affirmed on appeal. Cf. State v. Weaver, 374 S.C. 313, 326, 649 S.E.2d 479, 485 (2007) (Pleicones, J., concurring) ("Analysis of the facts of this case with our privacy provision in mind reveals no state constitutional violation. Although one's expectation of privacy in his automobile increases when that automobile is parked in the backyard of his private residence, [Weaver] in this case was not the owner of the Jeep that was seized. More importantly, the vehicle was not parked at [Weaver]'s residence. Our state constitution's provision protecting unreasonable invasions of privacy necessarily requires some analysis of the privacy interests involved when a warrantless seizure is made on private property. However, [Weaver] cannot show he had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the seized Jeep." (footnote omitted)).

unreasonable searches and seizures and unreasonable invasions of privacy shall not be violated[.]”). Furthermore, primarily in order to guard against invasive technological advancements, the South Carolina Constitution also expressly protects our citizens from “unreasonable invasions of privacy.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 10; see Forrester, 343 S.C. at 647, 541 S.E.2d at 842 (“[T]he drafters of our state constitution’s right to privacy provision were principally concerned with the emergence of new electronic technologies that increased the government’s ability to conduct searches.”).

Through the additional provision regarding invasions of privacy, “the people of South Carolina have indicated that searches and seizures that do not offend the federal Constitution may still offend the South Carolina Constitution.” State v. Weaver, 374 S.C. 313, 322, 649 S.E.2d 479, 483 (2007). Thus, “the South Carolina Constitution favors an interpretation offering a higher level of privacy protection than the Fourth Amendment.” Id. However, the South Carolina Constitution by its express language only forbids searches, seizures, and invasions of privacy that are *unreasonable*. S.C. Const. art. I, § 10; see State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977) (“It is only unreasonable searches and seizures that are prohibited.”); see also Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 331 (1990) (“It goes without saying that the Fourth Amendment bars only unreasonable searches and seizures[.]”). Accordingly, just like the search and seizure protections offered by the federal constitution, the touchstone of our state constitution’s search and seizure protections is reasonableness. See Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991) (“The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.”); see also Heien v. North Carolina, 574 U.S. 54, 60-61 (2014) (“To be reasonable is not to be perfect, and so the Fourth Amendment allows for some mistakes on the part of government officials, giving them ‘fair leeway for enforcing the law in the community’s protection.’ ” (citation omitted)).

Generally speaking, it is not typically reasonable from a constitutional standpoint for a person to enter the private property of another without leave. Florida v. Jardines, 569 U.S. 1, 7-8 (2013). However, through longstanding and deeply-ingrained customs and practices, the citizens of the United States—and South Carolina—have extended an implicit license to their fellow citizens, including their fellow citizens serving as law enforcement officers, that permits visitors to approach their homes in an effort to make contact with them. *Id.* at 8; see Kentucky v. King, 563 U.S. 452, 469 (2011) (“[W]hen law enforcement officers who are not armed with a warrant knock on a door, they do no more than any private citizen might do.”). Based on that implicit license, a law enforcement officer is constitutionally permitted *under the Fourth Amendment* to enter a home’s curtilage and approach a home in an attempt to speak with or question an occupant so long as the officer’s entry and approach is conducted in an objectively reasonable manner consistent with the implicit license, and such entries and approaches do not constitute searches and seizures for Fourth Amendment purposes. See Jardines, 569 U.S. at 9, n. 4 (“[I]t is not a Fourth Amendment search to approach the home in order to speak with the occupant, *because all are invited to do that.*”); State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 444, 706 S.E.2d 324, 328 (2011) (instructing a law enforcement officer may lawfully go to a person’s home and door to interview that person). Thus, as far as the federal constitution is concerned, an officer can typically “approach [a] home by the front path, knock promptly, wait briefly to be received, and then (absent invitation to linger longer) leave” without encroaching upon the Fourth Amendment. Jardines, 569 U.S. at 8.

Importantly though, this Court in State v. Counts, 413 S.C. 153, 167, 776 S.E.2d 59, 67 (2015), recently—but months *after* Officer Sherwood knocked on Holman’s door—addressed the question of whether a law enforcement officer’s approach of a home to knock on its door and

Speak with an occupant for investigative purposes constitutes a violation of the South Carolina Constitution. See Boston, 433 S.C. at 182, n. 3, 857 S.E.2d at 29, n. 3 (“We recognize the incident that is the subject of this appeal occurred in 2015, four months prior to the supreme court’s decision in Counts.”). After analyzing the issue, a majority of this Court determined “there must be some threshold evidentiary basis for law enforcement to approach a private residence” based on “the potential for abuse” that could occur if officers were permitted to approach citizens’ homes “*indiscriminately*” without any limitations. Counts, 413 S.C. at 172, 776 S.E.2d at 69 (emphasis added). As a result, the majority articulated a *new* rule of criminal procedure in South Carolina holding “law enforcement must have reasonable suspicion of illegal activity at a targeted residence prior to approaching the residence and knocking on the door.”¹⁵ Id. at 172-173, 776 S.E.2d at 70. Accordingly, despite the fact a “knock-and-talk” would be constitutionally proper under the Fourth Amendment due to the implicit license extended by our citizenry, officers in South Carolina must now possess reasonable suspicion before conducting an investigatory “knock-and-talk.” Id.

As to what “reasonable suspicion” has been recognized to mean, it is a flexible standard grounded in common sense and simply requires a showing of “a *minimal* level of objective justification” in order to be satisfied. Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 123 (2000) (emphasis

¹⁵ In Counts, this Court applied its “newly enunciated rule” to the facts of Counts’s case and determined Counts’s rights under the South Carolina Constitution were not violated. Counts, 413 S.C. at 173, 776 S.E.2d at 70. Because it determined no state constitutional violation had occurred, this Court did not address—and had no reason to address—the question of whether application of the exclusionary rule would have been appropriate if the officers had, in fact, violated Counts’s constitutional rights. Id. at 173, 776 S.E.2d at 70. As a result, this Court’s decision in Counts did *not* establish the exclusionary rule can or should be applied in cases involving suspicionless “knock-and-talks” conducted prior to the creation of the new rule requiring reasonable suspicion. See Hutto v. S. Farm Bureau Life Ins. Co., 259 S.C. 170, 173, 191 S.E.2d 7, 8-9 (1972) (“It is, of course, settled law that ‘a case cannot be considered as a binding precedent on a legal point that was not argued in the case and not mentioned in the opinion.’ ” (citation omitted)).

added); United States v. Lender, 985 F.2d 151, 154 (4th Cir. 1993) (“Reasonable suspicion is a commonsensical proposition.”); see also Kansas v. Glover, ___ U.S. ___, 140 S. Ct. 1183, 1190 (2020) (rejecting an interpretation of what is required to satisfy the reasonable suspicion standard because the rejected interpretation “would considerably narrow the daylight between the showing required for probable cause and the ‘less stringent’ showing required for reasonable suspicion”). Significantly, it “is not a high bar.” United States v. Coker, 648 F. App’x 541, 544 (6th Cir. 2016) (citing Navarette v. California, 572 U.S. 393 (2014)); see Kaley v. United States, 571 U.S. 320, 338 (2014) (recognizing even the probable cause standard “is not a high bar”). Thus, pursuant to that standard, the presence of factors seemingly consistent with innocent behavior can—and frequently does—suffice to establish the existence of reasonable suspicion to believe criminal activity *may* be afoot. United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 9 (1989); Wardlow, 528 U.S. at 125-126 (recognizing factors that are “susceptible of an innocent explanation” can establish reasonable suspicion and probable cause); see also United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 273 (2002) (instructing courts are precluded from conducting a “divide-and-conquer analysis” when considering the totality of the circumstances); United States v. Pack, 612 F.3d 341, 356 (5th Cir. 2010) (“Requiring police to have particularized facts that support a finding that ‘criminal activity may be afoot’ is different from requiring the police to articulate particularized facts that support a finding that a particular specific crime is afoot.”).

In the case sub judice, Officer Sherwood—prior to approaching and knocking on Holman’s door—was aware Holmes and Boston, whom were observed entering Holman’s single-occupancy residence, had previously been connected to drug activity. See, e.g., United States v. Lewis, 920 F.3d 483, 493 (7th Cir. 2019) (“Criminal histories can support reasonable suspicion.”); United States v. Green, 897 F.3d 173, 187 (3rd Cir. 2018) (recognizing an

individual’s criminal history—although not alone sufficient to establish reasonable suspicion—“is a valid factor” in a reasonable suspicion analysis with a value that “is enhanced when the prior offenses relate to the crime being investigated”); United States v. Calvetti, 836 F.3d 654, 667 (6th Cir. 2016) (recognizing a prior criminal history can constitute a “strong” indicator of criminal activity for purposes of a reasonable suspicion analysis). Likewise, the experienced officer was aware Holman herself was a known drug user with some cognitive issues. See, e.g., United States v. Sprinkle, 106 F.3d 613, 617 (4th Cir. 1997) (“[A]n officer can couple knowledge of prior criminal involvement with more concrete factors in reaching a reasonable suspicion of current criminal activity.”). Beyond that, he was aware the area was a known “hot spot” for narcotics activity and the apartments themselves were commonly used by drug manufacturers who employed quid pro quo arrangements to obtain access to locations where they could produce their narcotics. See, e.g., Wardlow, 528 U.S. at 124 (recognizing the nature of particular area and its connection to criminal activity is a pertinent factor in a reasonable suspicion analysis); Lender, 985 F.2d at 154 (“While the defendant’s mere presence in a high crime area is not by itself enough to raise reasonable suspicion, an area’s propensity toward criminal activity is something that an officer may consider.”); Milledge v. State, 422 S.C. 366, 377, 811 S.E.2d 796, 802 (2018) (“A person’s presence in a known high-crime area is one relevant consideration in analyzing reasonable suspicion[.]”).

In isolation, those factors may not have individually been sufficient to establish the minimal level of objective justification needed to validate the limited and reasonably-tempered investigatory action undertaken by the officers, which simply involved an approach and knock at Holman’s door. See Wardlow, 528 U.S. at 123 (instructing the reasonable suspicion standard only requires “a minimal level of objective justification”); see also District of Columbia v.

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